
 
 
If you cannot attend in person, and would like to speak on an agenda item, you can access the Zoom meeting remotely: 
Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone or Android device: 

Please click this URL to join. https://zoom.us/j/97368201787?pwd=a2NvVnN6MEFjQ2Exc2pTZkpIdU1sQT09 

Passcode: 477973 

Or join by phone: 

Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 

US: +1 669 900 9128 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 646 558 8656 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799  

Webinar ID: 973 6820 1787 
Passcode: 477973 
International numbers available: https://zoom.us/u/abNyiaqY1I 
 
 

 
The City wants you to know that you can also submit your comments by email to virtualhost@cityoflakeport.com.  
To give the City Clerk adequate time to print out your comments for consideration at the meeting, please submit your written 
comments prior to 3:30 p.m. on Tuesday, December 5, 2023. 
 
Please indicate in the email Subject Line "FOR PUBLIC COMMENT" and list the item number you wish to comment on. 
Comments that you want read to the Council will be subject to the three minute time limitation (approximately 350 words). 
Written comments that are only to be provided to Council and not read at the meeting will be distributed to the Council prior to 
the meeting. 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 

 

 AGENDA 
 REGULAR MEETING OF THE LAKEPORT CITY COUNCIL 
 (ALSO MEETS AS THE CITY OF LAKEPORT MUNICIPAL SEWER DISTRICT, THE LAKEPORT INDUSTRIAL 
 DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, THE MUNICIPAL FINANCING AGENCY OF LAKEPORT and THE SUCCESSOR 
 AGENCY TO THE FORMER LAKEPORT REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY) 
 Tuesday, December 5, 2023 6:00 p.m.  
 City Council Chambers, 225 Park Street, Lakeport, California 95453 
 See Teleconferencing Instructions Below 

https://zoom.us/j/97368201787?pwd=a2NvVnN6MEFjQ2Exc2pTZkpIdU1sQT09
https://zoom.us/u/abNyiaqY1I
mailto:virtualhost@cityoflakeport.com


City Council Agenda of December 5, 2023 Page 2 

AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE LAKEPORT CITY COUNCIL 
(ALSO MEETS AS THE CITY OF LAKEPORT MUNICIPAL SEWER DISTRICT, THE 
LAKEPORT INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, THE MUNICIPAL FINANCING 
AGENCY OF LAKEPORT and THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE FORMER LAKEPORT 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY)*
Tuesday, December 5, 2023, 6:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers, 225 Park Street, Lakeport, California 95453 

*All references to “City Council” include those other agencies which are listed above

The City Council may discuss and/or take action on any or all of the items listed on the agenda irrespective of how the agenda items are 
described.  The council may establish and make appointments to a Council committee (made up of two Councilmembers) with respect to 

any item appearing on this agenda. 

I. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL: 6:00 p.m. 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

III. ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA/ URGENCY
ITEMS:

Move to accept agenda as posted or move to add or delete items. 

To add item, Council is required to make a majority decision that an urgency exists (as 
defined in the Brown Act) and a 2/3rds determination that the need to take action 
arose subsequent to the agenda being posted. 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA: The following Consent Agenda items are expected to be routine and noncontroversial.  They will be acted upon by the 
Council at one time without any discussion.  Any Council Member may request that any item be removed from the Consent 
Agenda for discussion under the regular Agenda.  Removed items will be considered following the Consent Calendar portion 
of this agenda. 

A. Ordinances: Waive reading except by title, of any ordinances under consideration at this meeting 
for either introduction or passage per Government Code Section 36934. 

B. Minutes: Approve minutes of the City Council special meeting of November 21, 2023, and the 
regular meeting of November 21, 2023. 

C. Maddy List: Direct the City Clerk to prepare the 2024 Maddy Act Appointments List and post at 
City Hall and the Lakeport Public Library. 

V. PUBLIC PRESENTATIONS/REQUESTS:

A. Public Input: Any person may speak for 3 minutes about any subject within the authority of the City Council, provided that the subject is 
not already on tonight’s agenda. Per Government Code §54954.3(a), the City Council cannot take action or express a 
consensus of approval or disapproval on any public comments regarding matters which do not appear on the printed 
agenda. 

VI. PUBLIC HEARING:

A. Vista Point Shopping Center: Hold a nuisance abatement hearing and adopt a Resolution declaring the primary 
structure (872-896a Lakeport Blvd) of the Vista Point Shopping Center a public 
nuisance, order the property owner to abate all identified nuisance conditions within 
30 days, and, in the event the nuisances are not timely abated, empowering staff with 
authority to abate the nuisances, the costs of which may become a special assessment 
upon the parcel.    

VII. COUNCIL BUSINESS:

A. Public Works Director

1. Carnegie Library
Improvement Project:

Award a public works contract to Skiles & Associates for the Carnegie Library 
Improvements and authorize the City Manager to issue the contract for the bid 
amount. 

VIII. CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS:



City Council Agenda of December 5, 2023  Page 3 

 
 

 A. Travel, Calendar, and 
Miscellaneous Reports, if any: 

 

   

IX. ADJOURNMENT:   

Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the City Clerk’s Office at 225 
Park Street, Lakeport, California, during normal business hours.  Such documents are also available on the City of Lakeport’s website, www.cityoflakeport.com, subject to 
staff’s ability to post the documents before the meeting. 

The City of Lakeport, in complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), requests individuals who require special accommodations to access, attend and/or 
participate in the City meeting due to disability, to please contact the City Clerk’s Office, (707) 263-5615, 72 hours prior to the scheduled meeting to ensure reasonable 
accommodations are provided. 

 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
Hilary Britton, Deputy City Clerk 
 
 

http://www.cityoflakeport.com/


 
 
 

1. Call to order and 
Roll Call: 

Mayor Mattina called the special meeting to order at 5:01 p.m. with 
Council Members Costa, Froio, Parlet and Mayor Mattina present.  Council 
Member Disney was absent. 

2. Presentation of 
Citizen 
Commendation: 

Chief of Police Rasmussen presented a Citizen Commendation to Dalton 
Harris in recognition of exceptional efforts to enhance the quality of life in 
our community. 

Dave Waldschmitt of the Vietnam Vets of Lake County presented Harris 
with a memorial challenge coin.  Ginny Craven of Operation Tango Mike 
presented Harris with a metal flag art piece.  Sergeant Sarah Hardisty of 
the Lakeport Police Officers Association presented Harris with a challenge 
coin.  Greg Scott on behalf of Toastmasters International presented Harris 
with a leadership coin. 

3. Lake County 
Vector Control 
District Board 
(LCVCD) 
Appointment: 

The staff report was presented by City Clerk Buendia. Candidate George 
Spurr was interviewed by the Council. 
 
A motion was made by Council Member Costa, seconded by Council 
Member Parlet, and unanimously carried by voice vote 4-0-0-1, with 
Council Member Disney absent, to re-appoint the incumbent, George 
Spurr to serve a 4-year term to the Lake County Vector Control District 
Board of Trustees effective January 1, 2024, and expiring December 31, 
2027. 

4. Lakeport Fire 
Protection 
District (LFPD) 
Board Interviews 
and 
Appointment: 

The staff report was presented by City Clerk Buendia. Candidates Melissa 
Bedford and Andrew Britton were interviewed by the Council. 
 
A motion was made by Council Member Froio, seconded by Council 
Member Costa, and unanimously carried by voice vote 4-0-0-1, with 
Council Member Disney absent, to appoint Andrew Britton to the Lakeport 
Fire Protection District (LFPD) Board. 

 

 

 

 

Revised 11/17/2023 

MINUTES 
NOTICE AND CALL OF SPECIAL MEETING 

OF THE LAKEPORT CITY COUNCIL 
Tuesday, November 21, 2023 

5:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers, 225 Park Street, Lakeport, California 95453 



5. Lakeport 
Economic 
Development 
Advisory 
Committee 
(LEDAC) 
Interviews and 
Appointment: 

The staff report was presented by City Clerk Buendia.  Candidates Pam 
Harpster, Bill Eaton, JoAnn Saccato, Danny Wind and Stacey Caico were 
interviewed by the Council. 
 
Wilda Shock, Chair of LEDAC, commented generally on the applicants and 
thanked the Council. 
 
A motion was made by Council Member Parlet, seconded by Council 
Member Costa, and unanimously carried by voice vote 4-0-0-1, with 
Council Member Disney absent, to appoint Pam Harpster, Bill Eaton, and 
JoAnn Saccato to the Lakeport Economic Development Advisory 
Committee (LEDAC). 

6. Adjournment: Mayor Mattina adjourned the special meeting at 6:40 p.m. 

       
 
____________________________________ 
Stacey Mattina, Mayor 
 

Attest: 
 
 
________________________ 
Kelly Buendia, City Clerk 

 
 



City Council Minutes of November 21, 2023  Page 2 

 
 

 MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE LAKEPORT CITY COUNCIL 
(ALSO MEETS AS THE CITY OF LAKEPORT MUNICIPAL SEWER DISTRICT, THE 
LAKEPORT INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, THE MUNICIPAL FINANCING 
AGENCY OF LAKEPORT and THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE FORMER LAKEPORT 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY)* 
Tuesday, November 21, 2023, 6:00 p.m. 
City Council Chambers, 225 Park Street, Lakeport, California 95453 

*All references to “City Council” include those other agencies which are listed above 

The City Council may discuss and/or take action on any or all of the items listed on the agenda irrespective of how the agenda items are 
described.  The council may establish and make appointments to a Council committee (made up of two Councilmembers) with respect to 

any item appearing on this agenda. 

I. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL: Mayor Mattina called the meeting to order at 6:46 p.m. with Council Members  
Costa, Froio, Parlet and Mayor Mattina present.  Council Member Disney was absent. 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Mayor Mattina. 

III. ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA/ URGENCY 
ITEMS: 

A motion was made by Council Member Parlet, seconded by Council Member Froio, 
and unanimously carried by voice vote 4-0-0-1, with Council Member Disney absent, 
to accept agenda as posted. 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA: The following Consent Agenda items are expected to be routine and noncontroversial.  They will be acted upon by the 
Council at one time without any discussion.  Any Council Member may request that any item be removed from the Consent 
Agenda for discussion under the regular Agenda.  Removed items will be considered following the Consent Calendar portion 
of this agenda. 

 A. Ordinances: Waive reading except by title, of any ordinances under consideration at this meeting 
for either introduction or passage per Government Code Section 36934. 

 B. Minutes: Approve minutes of the City Council regular meeting of November 7, 2023. 

 C. Application 2023-020A: Approve amendment to application 2023-020, with staff recommendations, to 
operate a sled hill on 2nd street, between Forbes and Main, in conjunction with the 
Dickens’ Festival. 

 D. Zoning Ordinance Amendment: Adopt an ordinance of the City Council of the City of Lakeport repealing and replacing 
Section 17.17.080 of Chapter 17.17 of Title 17 of the Lakeport Municipal Code 
regarding the time limit for Planned Development Combining Districts. 

 E. Lakeport Police Officers’ 
Association (LPOA): 

Approve the Side Letter Agreement for the City of Lakeport Police Officers’ 
Association amending section 6.18 of the MOU regarding premium pay for detective 
trainee work. 

  Vote on the Consent Agenda: A motion was made by Council Member Parlet, seconded by Council Member Costa, 
and unanimously carried by voice vote 4-0-0-1, with Council Member Disney absent, 
to approve the Consent Agenda, items A-E. 

V. PUBLIC PRESENTATIONS/REQUESTS: 

 A. Public Input: Ruby Jones addressed the Council regarding wrong-way drivers on N. High Street & 
Clear Lake Avenue. 
 

VI. COUNCIL BUSINESS: 

 A. City Manager  

  1. Courthouse Traffic Plan: The staff report was presented by City Manager Ingram. 
A motion was made by Council Member Parlet, seconded by Council Member Costa, 
and unanimously carried by voice vote 4-0-0-1, with Council Member Disney absent, 
to adopt a resolution confirming the fulfillment of all provisions outlined in the 



City Council Minutes of November 21, 2023  Page 3 

 
 

Memorandum of Understanding(s), dated January 11, 2011, and July 19, 2011, 
between the Judicial Council of California and the City of Lakeport in connection with 
the development of the new Lake County Superior Courthouse to be located at 675 
Lakeport Boulevard. 

 B. Utilities Director  

  1. Government 101 
Presentation:  
Wastewater Inflow & 
Infiltration (I&I) 

The staff report was presented by Utilities Director Harris. 
Update of continuing efforts to identify and mitigate Inflow and Infiltration (I&I) in the 
City’s wastewater collection system. 

VII. CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS: 

 A. Travel, Calendar, and 
Miscellaneous Reports, if any: 

Community Development Director Hejnowicz had no report. 

Chief Building Inspector Moss had no report. 

City Attorney Ruderman had no report.  

City Manager Ingram advised the fence will be taken down from Xabatin Park on 
November 30, 2023.  He also reported that he attended CALPELRA conference last 
week. 

Police Chief Rasmussen reported that the LPD will bring a speaker on the Opioid Crisis 
and they will be speaking at community meetings and to all the local high schools in 
June. 

Utilities Director Harris had no report. 

Public Works Director Ladd had no report. 

Administrative Services Director Buendia had no report. 

Assistant City Manager Walker had no report. 

Council Member Disney was absent.  

Council Member Froio had no report. 

Council Member Parlet had no report. 

Council Member Costa had no report. 

Mayor Mattina wished everyone a happy Thanksgiving. 

   

VIII. ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Mattina adjourned the meeting at 7:44 p.m. 

 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
Stacey Mattina, Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Kelly Buendia, City Clerk 

 
 



Meeting Date:  12/5/2023 Page 1 Agenda Item # IV.C. 

CITY OF LAKEPORT 
City Council  

City of Lakeport Municipal Sewer District  
Lakeport Redevelopment Successor Agency  
Lakeport Industrial Development Authority   

Municipal Financing Agency of Lakeport   

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Annual Maddy Act Appointment List MEETING DATE:   12/05/2023 

SUBMITTED BY:   Kelly Buendia, City Clerk 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL/BOARD: 

The City Council is being asked to direct the City Clerk to prepare the annual Maddy Act Appointment List. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   

The Maddy Act (Government Code Sections 54970 through 54974) states that a vast and largely untapped 
reservoir of talent exists among the citizenry of the State of California, and that rich and varied segments of this 
great human resource are, all too frequently, not aware of the many opportunities which exist to participate in 
and serve on local regulatory and advisory boards, commissions, and committees. 

The Act requires that on or before December 31 of each year, each legislative body prepare an appointments list 
of all regular ongoing boards, commissions, and committees which are appointed by the legislative body of the 
local agency.   

Pursuant to the Maddy Act, the list must contain the list of all appointive terms that expire during the next 
calendar year (shown in red), with the name of the incumbent appointee, the date of appointment, the date the 
term expires, and the necessary qualifications for the position.  Once the list is prepared, the City Clerk will make 
it available to the public in accordance with the Act and can continue recruiting any vacant positions. 

OPTIONS: 

The Appointments list is statutorily mandated.  The City Council could direct the City Clerk to complete the list 
and call a special meeting for approval prior to the December 31 deadline. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  $      Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No   If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  $      

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Water OM Fund    Sewer OM Fund    Other:       

Comments:   

 

 

 

 



Meeting Date:  12/5/2023 Page 2 Agenda Item # IV.C. 

 
COUNCIL PRIORITIES: 

☐  Priority #1:  Public Safety & Crisis Response   

☐  Priority #2:  Disaster Resiliency   

☒  Priority #3:  Good Governance & Fiscal Stability 

☐  Priority #4:  Capital Infrastructure Improvement   

☐  Priority #5:  Safe, Sustainable & Attractive Neighborhoods   

☐  Priority #6:  Economic Development   

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

Move to direct the City Clerk to prepare the 2024 Maddy Act Appointments List and post at City Hall and the 
Lakeport Public Library. 

    Attachments: 1. DRAFT Maddy Act Appointment List 
 



 

CITY OF LAKE PORT 20 24 MADDY ACT LOCAL AP POINTM ENTS LI ST 
NOTICE: In compliance with the requirements of the Maddy Act (Government Code §54970, et seq.), the following appointments list 
was posted on or before December 31, 2023, at the City Hall, City of Lakeport, 225 Park Street, Lakeport, CA 95453, and at the 
Lakeport Library, 1425 North High Street, Lakeport, CA 95453. The City Council of the City of Lakeport will make appointments to 
the positions below which will expire or will otherwise become vacant in 2024. Unless noted otherwise, all appointees must be 
residents of the City of Lakeport. 
PLANNING CO MMISSIO N 
The Planning Commission meets the second Wednesday of each month at 5:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers of City Hall.  The city council may 
appoint one member who lives outside of the city limits but within the Lakeport zip code area. 

 

 COMMISSIONER DATE APPOINTED TERM ENDS  
Mark Mitchell  December 12, 2022  December 31, 2026 
Kipp Knorr  December 12, 2022  December 31, 2026 
Nathan Maxman  December 12, 2022  December 31, 2026 
Kurt Combs  December 7, 2020  December 31, 2024 
Scott Barnett  December 7, 2020  December 31, 2024 

LAKEPORT ECONOMIC DEV ELOPMENT ADVISORY COMMITT EE (L EDAC) 
This committee meets bimonthly, on the second Wednesday of the month, at 7:30 a.m. in the Conference Room at City Hall. Membership to this 
committee is open to anyone who lives, works, shops, or does business in the City of Lakeport, including those in the unincorporated areas of the 
Lakeport trade area. 

 

COMMISSIONER DATE APPOINTED TERM ENDS 
Pam Harpster  November 21, 2023  December 31, 2025 
Bill Eaton  November 21, 2023  December 31, 2025 
JoAnn Saccato  November 21, 2023  December 31, 2025 
Denise Combs  December 13, 2022  December 31, 2024 
Bonnie Darling  December 13, 2022  December 31, 2024 
Wilda Shock  December 13, 2022  December 31, 2024 
Jeff Davis  December 13, 2022  December 31, 2024 

 
MEASUR E Z ADVISORY COMMITT EE 
This committee meets quarterly to review all revenues and expenditures of the Measure Z transactions and use tax and make recommendations to 
the City Council regarding those expenditures. 

COMMISSIONER DATE APPOINTED TERM ENDS 
Susan King  December 13, 2022  December 31, 2026 
Laura Somes  December 13, 2022  December 31, 2026 
Meg Harper  December 8, 2020  December 31, 2024 
Dennis Rollins  December 8, 2020  December 31, 2024 
Zack Jordan  December 8, 2020  December 31, 2024 

 

LAKEPORT FIR E P ROTECT ION DIST RICT BOAR D 
This Board meets at 5:00 PM on the second Tuesday of each month at 445 N. Main St., Lakeport CA 95453, Lakeport, CA. Members must reside 
within the City limits.  Directors serve a 4-year term. 

BOARD MEMBER DATE APPOINTED TERM ENDS 
Andrew Britton  November 21, 2023  December 31, 2027 
Jeff Warrenburg  December 13, 2022    December 31, 2026 

 

 

LAKE CO UNTY V ECTOR CO NTROL DISTRICT BOAR D 
This Board of Trustees meets at 1:30 PM on the second Wednesday of each month at 410 Esplanade, Lakeport, CA. Members must be a voter in 
the City of Lakeport and reside within the district.  Trustee’s serve a 2-year or 4-year term, at the discretion of the City Council 

BOARD MEMBER DATE APPOINTED TERM ENDS 
George Spurr  November 21, 2023  December 31, 2027 

 

 



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 1 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

CITY OF LAKEPORT 
City Council  

City of Lakeport Municipal Sewer District  
Lakeport Redevelopment Successor Agency  

Lakeport Industrial Development Agency   
Municipal Financing Agency of Lakeport   

 

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Nuisance Abatement Hearing - Vista Point Shopping Center, 

872 – 896(a) Lakeport Blvd., Lakeport CA 95453  

APN 025-472-05, Case #: CE2022-00046 

MEETING DATE:  12/05/2023  

SUBMITTED BY:   Bethany Moss Childers, Chief Building Official 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

 
1. WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL/BOARD: 
The Community Development Department recommends the City Council: (1) conduct a public nuisance 
abatement hearing under Chapter 8.22 (Abatement of Nuisances) of the Lakeport Municipal Code; (2) adopt a 
resolution declaring the primary structure (872-896a Lakeport Blvd) of the Vista Point Shopping Center, further 
identified as APN 025-472-05, a public nuisance; and (3) order the property owner, Donica LLC, to abate all 
identified nuisance conditions within 30 days.  
 
2. BACKGROUND:   
Vista Point Shopping Center (Vista Point), situated at 872-896a Lakeport Boulevard, has been under the 
ownership of Donica LLC since its acquisition in 2007. On July 14, 2022, City staff initiated a Code Enforcement 
Case (#2022-00046) to address a series of code violations at the property. While items from the initial Code 
Enforcement case remain outstanding, City staff has presented subsequent code enforcement matters to Donica 
LLC for resolution. Unfortunately, over the past eighteen months, City staff's persistent efforts to bring Vista 
Point into compliance have yielded minimal progress in addressing a growing list of violations. 
 
The ongoing deterioration of Vista Point and the escalating code violations pose heightened risks to both life and 
property. The property's lack of care and maintenance over the years has transformed it into a blight on the 
community of Lakeport, causing not only potential life safety concerns but also visual and tangible nuisances due 
to its dilapidated state.  
 
Vista Point's current condition violates numerous sections of the California Building Code, California Fire Code, 
International Property Maintenance Code, and the Lakeport Municipal Code ("LMC"). Despite the City’s 
persistent attempts to rectify the situation and work with the property owner, the property remains non-
compliant. Therefore, City staff have brought forth this recommendation for an abatement order to the City 
Council, highlighting the urgent need for action to address the building's state of disrepair and the danger it 
poses to the community (Attachment 6).  
 
3. BUILDING DETAILS:  



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 2 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

Situated at 872-896(a) Lakeport Blvd, the central edifice of Vista Point Shopping Center has been owned by 
Donica LLC since late 2007. Erected in the early 1980s, this primary structure comprises five interconnected 
buildings with a shared-wall construction design. Each of the five buildings shares commonalities in structural 
systems, materials, and detailing, featuring wood roof systems. The five buildings are depicted in the image 
below: (1) Unit A; (2) Unit B; (3) Unit C; (4) Units D & E; and (5) Units F & G. 
 
Among the quintet, one building is presently leased and occupied (Units D & E). This building serves as the 
administrative offices for Lake Family Resource Center and houses the Early Head Start program. Four buildings 
remain unoccupied (Unit A, Unit B, Unit C & Unit G/F), and most notably, Unit B experienced a roof collapse in 
2008, prompting the comprehensive removal of both its roof and facade. Since then, Unit B has been without a 
roof, as reflected in the image below. 
 

 
 
The detached building situated to the east of Unit A (802-868 Lakeport Blvd), separated by horizontal parking 
stalls, is not included in the scope of this abatement action. This particular structure is in a superior state and 
exhibits better overall conditions compared to the units addressed in the abatement process. 
 
4. SUMMARY OF ABATEMENT PROCESS: 
In conducting this abatement process, City Code Enforcement staff adhered to the procedures in LMC Chapter 
8.22 – Abatement of Nuisances. Upon identifying issues at the property, City staff promptly furnished Donica, 
LLC with a Notice to Abate via certified mail pursuant to LMC § 8.22.030 on July 14, 2022 (Attachment 2 - A), 
complemented by digital copies delivered via email. This comprehensive notice delineated the relevant street 
addresses, a detailed description of the conditions causing the nuisance, a determination that the noted 
conditions pose an imminent threat to human health or limb, is unsafe and is detrimental to the public health or 
safety, and a specified deadline for correction.  
 
Subsequently, on September 29, 2022, City staff issued a Second Notice to Abate, explicitly highlighting that 
Donica, LLC had not initiated remedial actions identified in the July 14th Notice. Following the second notice City 
staff attempted, over several months, to work with Donica LLC on voluntary compliance and resolution to the 
nuisance. Attempts to work with Donica LLC on a resolution eventually became implausible and on October 16, 



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 3 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

2023, in compliance with Lakeport Municipal Code Chapter 8.22 (Abatement of Nuisances), a Second Notice to 
Abate Nuisance was reissued to Donica LLC, including the formal Abatement Hearing date scheduled for 
November 7, 2023. Shortly thereafter, following a request from Donica LLC to reschedule the November 7, 2023, 
Abatement Hearing date due to a personal conflict, the Second Notice to Abate Nuisance was re-issued, 
continuing the Abatement Hearing to December 5, 2023.  
 
The City Council hearing will allow Donica, LLC to demonstrate why the cited conditions should not be labeled as 
a nuisance and why the City should not abate said nuisance. During the hearing, the City Council will consider 
testimonies from city staff, the property owner or their representatives, and other credible individuals regarding 
the conditions constituting the nuisance, the estimated cost of abatement, and any other pertinent matters as 
deemed appropriate by the City Council. 
 
5. SUMMARY OF KEY EVENTS: 
This timeline provides a condensed overview of pivotal events pertaining to the ongoing code enforcement case 
and nuisance abatement at the Vista Point Shopping Center.  
 

• July 11, 2022: A property maintenance inspection was conducted on the exterior of the Vista Point 
Shopping Center by Community Development Department staff. 
 

• July 14, 2022: A Notice to Abate Nuisance was issued to the property owner, Donica LLC, outlining 
twelve violations, including the directive to restore the roof of Unit B to its originally permitted 
construction or obtain a building permit for the demolition of free-standing walls (Attachment 2 – A). 

 
• August 18, 2022: A reinspection revealed that none of the requirements from the July 14th Notice to 

Abate Nuisance had been addressed. 
 

• September 15, 2022: Another reinspection indicated that two minor violations had been corrected. 
 

• September 29, 2022: A Second Notice to Abate Nuisance was issued (Attachment 2 – B). 
 

• October 26, 2022: Donica LLC obtained a licensed fire sprinkler contractor to conduct required annual 
maintenance and certification of the fire sprinkler systems in Unit A and C, as required in the first and 
second Notices to Abate Nuisance. Six of the twelve cited violations remained outstanding, including no 
attempt to rectify the unpermitted state of the roofless Unit B.  

 
• January 12, 2023: In-person discussions were held between Community Development Department staff, 

City Manager Kevin Ingram, and Managing Member of Donica LLC, Matthew Riveras. Riveras expressed 
reluctance to reconstruct the missing roof of Unit B without a tenant. 
 
The City's direction to Donica LLC offered a choice between two options: (1) Restore the building to its 
initially permitted state; or (2) Demolish Unit B and secure permits confirming the compliance and 
structural safety of the remaining structures. 

 
• February 24, 2023: Unit A experienced a roof collapse after a snow event in Lakeport. Noting that this 

was the second roof collapse to the primary structure, City staff red tagged the entire primary structure 
finding it unsafe to occupy. This caused the displacement of 30 children from the Early Head Start 
Program and administrative offices of the Lake Family Resource Center. 
 

• February 27, 2023: The Lakeport Fire Protection District formally notified the City (Attachment 4 – A) of 
its concerns about the risks posed by the building to occupants and first responders. The Fire Protection 
District agreed with the determination that the structure should retain its classification as unsafe for 



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 4 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

occupancy, with appropriate precautions, until a thorough evaluation by a licensed Structural Engineer 
encompassing the entire primary structure occurred. 

 
• March 1, 2023: Donica LLC granted partial access to Units C-G for inspection by City Staff and the City's 

contracted Structural Engineer, Dan Isaacs from Kelsey Structural. 
 

• March 13, 2023: an Amended Notice to Abate Nuisance was issued to Donica LLC, outlining six specific 
requirements for review by City Staff and Kelsey Structural (Attachment 2 – C). Additionally, the 
Amended Notice included the six outstanding violations cited in the Notices dated July 14, 2022, and 
September 29, 2022. This notice outlined the necessary steps to reoccupy Units D & E all the while 
noting that other additional items for correction were necessary to occupy other portions of the 
structure.  
 

• March 16, 2023: Donica LLC granted access to the entire primary structure at 872-896a Lakeport Blvd. 
City Staff, Dan Isaacs SE from Kelsey Structural, Mr. Riveras, and Josh Wallace from MKM Engineering 
attended the inspection and investigation. Mr. Wallace was hired by Mr. Riveras to act as Donica LLC’s 
Structural Engineer. 
 
Throughout March, MKM Engineering submitted only cursory and visual inspection reports. These 
reports included inaccurate structural calculations that failed to account for the current deteriorating 
state of the structure and wood roof members. Moreover, Donica LLC failed to provide invasive forensic 
testing on the structural elements as required to allow removal of the red tag. 

 
• April 7, 2023: Staff detailed twenty-six sections of MKM Engineering’s most recent report and structural 

calculations that needed clarification and further explanation (Attachment 3 – E). 
 

• April 18, 2023: A Technical Memorandum issued by Kelsey Structural outlined deteriorated conditions, 
the cause of the roof collapse in Unit A, and requirements for Donica LLC to ensure the conditions that 
caused Unit A’s collapse did not exist elsewhere, most notably in Units D & E where the Lake Family 
Resource Center and Head Start were located. (Attachment 3 – A). 

 
• April 20, 2023: City staff and Dan Isaacs of Kelsey Structural met with Donica LLC representatives Mr. 

Riveras and Mr. Wallace to discuss the requirements for re-occupancy of Units D & E. 
 

• April 25, 2023: City staff issued formal correspondence to Donica LLC regarding the Conditions of 
Potential Re-occupancy of Units D and E. This formal correspondence identified immediate repairs 
before potential re-occupancy of Units D and E, as well as repairs that must be completed within 60 days 
of the date of the correspondence (Attachment 4 – B). 

 
• May 16, 2023: Donica LLC requested temporary fencing surrounding the free standing walls of Unit B, 

while engineered plans were reportedly being drafted for shoring. City staff agreed to this measure so 
LFRC and Early Head Start could reoccupy suites D &E.  
 

• May 18, 2023: Temporary fencing was installed. To this date, fencing remains in place but is not 
properly secured to safeguard the public from the potential collapse of the freestanding walls of Unit B.  

 
• May 19, 2023: LFRC/Early Head Start was granted re-occupancy with conditions that Donica LLC would 

comply with the 60-day requirements. 
 



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 5 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

• May 30, 2023: Mr. Riveras provided an update to the 60-day requirements stating that he’s unable to 
find a roofing contractor, needed to explain to MKM Engineering what a “full forensic analysis” entails, 
and contests the required mold testing in Unit D-G. 
 

• June 25, 2023: The 60-day period lapsed, and the required repairs identified in the Conditions of 
Potential Re-occupancy were not achieved  (Attachment 4 – B). 

 
• September 7, 2023: Vista Point Shopping Center was listed for auction on Crexi, a commercial real 

estate website. The initial auction date was set for October 10-11, 2023. The City-issued red tag was 
violated during auction tours of the property. 
 

• September 11, 2023: Mr. Riveras emailed a response to City staff regarding the lack of compliance. It 
became evident to staff that the property owner harbored no intention or inclination to comply with the 
outstanding violations, suggesting that further abatement action was increasingly likely (Attachment 4 – 
C). 
 

• September 25, 2023: Donica LLC provided a report from Bryan Fold, “The Roofer”. The report identified 
buckling, ponding and wrinkles in the roof needing repairs. Staff sent this report to Kelsey Structural for 
review. The Roofer Report can be viewed as (Attachment 4 – D). Kelsey Structural’s review of the 
Roofer’s Report can be viewed as (Attachment 3 – C). 

 
• October 6, 2023: Staff identified major roof repairs that were made without required building permits. 

Donica LLC was made aware of the permit requirement but has not obtained the necessary permits. 
 

• October 16, 2023: In compliance with Lakeport Municipal Code Chapter 8.22 (Abatement of Nuisances) 
a Second Notice to Abate Nuisance was issued to Donica LLC, including the formal Abatement Hearing 
date scheduled for November 7, 2023. Donica LLC replied asking for an extension citing a personal 
conflict. 

 
• October 31, 2023: Following a request from Donica LLC, the Second Notice to Abate Nuisance was re-

issued, continuing the Abatement Hearing to December 5, 2023. 
 

• November 2, 2023: Construction was observed inside Unit A without authorization or a building permit. 
City Staff and Lakeport Police Department intervened, halting all work by Ferranti Construction. 

 
• November 7, 2023: Shoring plans for the roof collapse in Unit A were submitted for review by Ferranti 

Construction on behalf of MKM Engineering. Plan check comments were issued by the City on 
November 16, 2023. Plan revisions were then resubmitted by MKM Engineering on November 27, 2023 
for the shoring of the collapsed roof in Unit A.  
 
To date, plans have not been submitted for the freestanding walls of Unit B. 
 

6. DISCUSSION 
Vista Point’s central edifice has remained largely vacant and blighted for more than a decade; however, starting 
in July 2022, City staff noticed potential public safety concerns that prompted the initiation of enforcement 
actions. Commencing July 14, 2022, the City issued a Notice to Abate Nuisance, outlining the need for the 
structure to be restored to its originally permitted construction (Attachment 2 –A). The City proposed two 
options for corrective action: repairing the collapsed roof in Unit B or obtaining necessary permits and 
demolishing Unit B. After two re-inspections and the correction of two minor violations, the City issued a Second 
Notice to Abate Nuisance in September 2022 regarding the outstanding violations. After abating six of the 



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 6 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

twelve violations, City staff continued to try working with Donica LLC to obtain voluntary compliance with the 
outstanding issues and to rectify the unpermitted state of the roofless Unit B.  
 
In February 2023, a snow event triggered a roof collapse in Unit A. Because this was the second roof collapse the 
building had suffered, and because it appeared the occupied section contained the same roof structure and 
condition as that which had collapsed, the City Building Official declared the entire structure unsafe for human 
occupancy, i.e., it was red tagged. Recognizing the severity of the situation, the City engaged Kelsey Structural to 
conduct a professional and thorough engineering analysis of the entire property. 
 
The primary focus for both the City and the property owner, Donica LLC, was the development of a work plan for 
the safe re-occupancy of Units D-E for Head Start and Lake Family Resource Center. In April 2023, the City 
formulated a re-occupancy plan for these units, outlining immediate corrective actions and additional items that 
needed completion within 60 days before the onset of fall and winter weather. 
 
By May 2023, Donica LLC had taken some immediate corrective actions, resulting in the City issuing a conditional 
occupancy permit for Units D-E. Throughout the summer of 2023, staff and the property owner maintained 
consistent communication, though there was minimal progress in resolving the remaining outstanding issues. 
 
Notably, Donica LLC failed to secure a roofing contractor within the mandated 60-day period. Eventually, a 
roofing contractor was obtained on September 25, 2023, identifying necessary repairs. However, permits were 
not obtained for the roofing repair work performed. Furthermore, the property owner did not submit an 
engineering analysis for the shoring/bracing of the freestanding walls of Unit B. Additionally, the mandated 
forensic analysis and investigation into the roof collapse within Unit A did not occur. 
 
Despite ongoing efforts, Donica LLC did not provide the City with a work plan or timeline for completing the 
repairs required by the Notices to Abate. In September 2023, the property owner demanded the release of the 
red tag, leading staff to believe that Donica LLC did not intend to comply with the Notices to Abate, necessitating 
the likelihood of further abatement action. 
 
On October 16, 2023, City staff issued a Second Notice to Abate, setting a hearing before the City Council for 
November 7, 2023, for the Council to consider whether the conditions at Vista Point constitute a nuisance and 
must be abated. The property owner requested a postponement of the hearing citing personal conflict. The 
Public Abatement Hearing was rescheduled for December 5, 2023.  

 
City staff has persistently endeavored to help Donica LLC, the owner of Vista Point, achieve voluntary code 
compliance. Unfortunately, despite ongoing efforts, there has been minimal cooperation from the property 
ownership, resulting in the property deteriorating further, culminating in a second roof collapse of the primary 
structure (Unit A) on February 24, 2023. Despite the dedicated efforts of the staff, substantial progress has not 
been realized, and the paramount concern remains the protection of the community from the hazards posed by 
this property. The urgency of correcting these violations is all the more pressing as we head into another wet 
winter. Exhausting all available alternatives, City staff are now requesting City Council approval and direction for 
a formal abatement order against Donica LLC to rectify all identified nuisances within 30 days of the scheduled 
hearing. 
 
7. OVERVIEW OF CORRECTIVE MEASURES REQUIRED 
Below is a summary of corrective actions City staff requires to abate the identified nuisances broken out by 
individual Vista Point unit: 
 

• Unit A: Demolish or provide full forensic engineering analysis showing structural integrity and that 
building is safe for occupancy. Obtain relevant permits to repair. Provide City staff with a timeline of 
work/completion.  



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 7 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

 
• Unit B: Obtain demolition permit and demolish or obtain building permits to reconstruct to current 

California Building Code. Either option would include the need for a qualified licensed engineer to 
demonstrate that the west wall of Unit A and east wall of Unit C are structurally safe and secure.  
 

• Unit C: Obtain demolition permit and demolish or provide full forensic engineering analysis showing 
structural integrity and that building is safe for occupancy. Obtain relevant permits to repair. Provide 
City staff with a timeline of work/completion. 
 

• Units D-G: (1) Provide full forensic engineering analysis & report demonstrating complete and 
comprehensive investigation of structural integrity and safety of the entire roof structure and materials. 
This presents a significant life safety concern in which staff wants to ensure that the collapse that 
occurred in Unit A is not at risk of occurring in Units D-G. (2) Complete (with permits) any necessary 
roofing repairs consistent with full roofing forensic engineering analysis performed in (1). (3) Perform 
mold testing and any required remediation.  

 
Ultimately, the Vista Point property owner, Donica LLC, must comply with all elements identified by Kelsey 
Structural in subsequent reports and all the Notices to Abate issued by the City of Lakeport.  
 
8. FEE ESTIMATE (fees incurred by the City):  
Kelsey Structural (inspection, technical memorandum, advisement): $25,000  
Staff Hours: $12,225 
City Attorney Hours: $TBD 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended by the Community Development Department that the City Council: (1) conduct a public 
abatement hearing under Chapter 8.22 (Abatement of Nuisances) of the Lakeport Municipal Code; (2) adopt a 
resolution declaring the primary structure (872-896a Lakeport Blvd) of the Vista Point Shopping Center, further 
identified as APN 025-472-05,  a public nuisance; and (3) order the property owner, Donica LLC, to abate all 
identified nuisance conditions within 30 days.  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  ___________ Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No   If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  N/A 

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Water OM Fund    Sewer OM Fund    Other:   

Comments:   

COUNCIL PRIORITIES: 

☒  Priority #1:  Public Safety & Crisis Response   

☐  Priority #2:  Disaster Resiliency   

☐  Priority #3:  Good Governance & Fiscal Stability 

☐  Priority #4:  Capital Infrastructure Improvement   

☒  Priority #5:  Safe, Sustainable & Attractive Neighborhoods   

☐  Priority #6:  Economic Development   



Meeting Date:  12/05/23 Page 8 Agenda Item #VI.A. 
  

 

SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to adopt a Resolution declaring the primary structure (872-896a Lakeport Blvd) of the Vista Point 
Shopping Center a public nuisance, order the property owner to abate all identified nuisance conditions within 
30 days, and, in the event the nuisances are not timely abated, empowering staff with authority to abate the 
nuisances, the costs of which may become a special assessment upon the parcel.    

    Attachments: 1. Site Map 
2. Notice(s) to Abate Nuisances 
3. Structural Engineering Reports 
4. Additional Documentation and Relevant Communications 
5. Photographs 
6. Copies of relevant Lakeport Municipal Code section and sections of the 

California Building and Fire Codes, and International Property Maintenance 
Code 

7. Resolution Declaring a Public Nuisance 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

SITE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 





























































































































































































































































1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 5 

PHOTOGRAPHS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 
 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 5 - PHOTOGRAPHS  

VISTA POINT SHOPPING CENTER  

872-896(A) Lakeport Blvd, APN 025-472-05, CE2022-00046 

 

Primary structure of shopping center 

 

Eastern units of shopping center 



3 
 

 

“Welcome to Lakeport” sign with shopping center in rear 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 
 

Rear of Units B - G 

 

 

 

 

 

Aerial over unit A and B 

 

 

 

 



5 
 

Aerial over Unit C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aerial over Unit C - G 

 

 

 

 

Unit A - 827 Lakeport Blvd 



6 
 

 

 

 

 

Unit A - Roof Collapse  

 

 



7 
 

 

 

Unit A - Roof Collapse  

 

 

 

Unit A - Saturated Framing Members 



8 
 

 

 

Unit A - Extensive Water Damage Post-Collapse 

 

 



9 
 

 

Unit A – Northwest portion of building 

 

 

 

Unit A - Vandalism post roof collapse due to unsecured building 



10 
 

 

 

Unit A - Additional image of vandalism and water intrusion - post roof collapse and red tag 

 

  



11 
 

Unit B – 880 Lakeport Blvd 

 

 

Unit B – Freestanding walls post initial roof collapse 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



12 
 

 

Unit B, shared wall with Unit C 

 

 

Unit B – Entrance with visible vegetation on interior 

 



13 
 

 

 

Unit B – Unsecured plywood with exposed broken glass 

 

Unit B – Temporary fencing not secure to prevent pedestrian travel 



14 
 

 

 

Unit C – 888 Lakeport Blvd. 

Southwest corner, water intrusion 



15 
 

 

Unit C – North West wall, water intrusion 

 

 

Unit C - HVAC – saturated ducting 



16 
 

 

Unit C- Shared wall with Unit B, exposed glulam beams 

 

 

 



17 
 

Unit C – Crack in shared wall with Unit D 

 

Unit C – Water intrusion in center of unit 

 

 



18 
 

 

Unit C – Holes in shared wall with Unit B, exposing structural elements to weather exposure since initial roof collapse 

 

  



19 
 

Units D – G 896/896a Lakeport Blvd.  

Multiple water markings on ceiling tiles 

 

 

  



20 
 

Unit G – Water running down the walls of the Northwest corner 

 

 

  



21 
 

Unit F-G – Saturated carpet 

 

 

 

  



22 
 

UNPERMITTED ROOF REPAIRS 

 

 

 



23 
 

 

 

BREACH OF RED TAGS 

Unit A – G include for rent signs displayed on the interior post collapse of Unit A’s roof 

 

Unit A – Construction worker on scissor lift in the center of the roof collapse.  

No permit or approval to occupy from the City 



24 
 

 

 

 

Unit A – Vehicle entering into the building 

 

Unit A – Unpermitted demolition to enable vehicles to enter into the building 



25 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Unit A – Unpermitted construction 



26 
 

 

 

Unit A – The red tag on the door that the Contractor and workers entered through 

 

 













































 

 RESOLUTION NO. XXXX (2023) 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY  
OF LAKEPORT DECLARING THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 872-896a 

LAKEPORT BOULEVARD A PUBLIC NUISANCE AND ITS INTENT TO 
COMMENCE ABATEMENT PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO 

LAKEPORT MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8.22   
 

 WHEREAS, Lakeport Municipal Code Section 8.22.020 defines a nuisance as anything 
which is injurious to health, including, but not limited to, the illegal sale of controlled substances, or 
is indecent or offensive to the senses, or an obstruction to the free use of property, so as to interfere 
with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, or unlawfully obstructs the free passage or use, 
in the customary manner, of any navigable lake, or river, bay, stream, canal, or basin, or any public 
park, square, street, or highway; and 
  
 WHEREAS, Lakeport Municipal Code Section 8.22.020 further defines a nuisance as any 
public nuisance known under common law or equity, any attractive nuisance which may prove 
dangerous or detrimental to any person, or any condition that is dangerous to human life, unsafe, or 
detrimental to the public health or safety, including the accumulation of trash or junk and the 
existence of dangerous building as defined under the currently adopted California Building 
Standards Code as referenced in Lakeport Municipal Code Section 15.01.010 for the abatement of 
dangerous buildings; and  
 

WHEREAS, the property located at 872-896a Lakeport Boulevard (“the Property”) in the 
City of Lakeport and further known as Lake County Assessor’s Parcel Number 025-472-05 is owned 
by Donica LLC (“Property Owner”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Property’s structure comprises five interconnected buildings with a shared 
wall construction design and shared commonalties in structural systems, materials, detailing and 
wood roof systems; and 
 

WHEREAS, among the Property one unit, the split building Unit D and Unit E, is 
presently leased and occupied as the administrative offices for the Lake Family Resource Center and 
the Early Head Start Program, three units remain unoccupied, and Unit B which experienced a roof 
collapse in 2008 has remained vacant and unoccupied; and 
 

WHEREAS, a Notice to Abate Nuisance dated July 14, 2022 was issued to the Property 
Owner outlining twelve code violations; and 

 
WHEREAS, although the Property Owner made some progress on the violations identified 

in the July 14th Notice, a Second Notice to Abate Nuisance dated September 29, 2022 was issued to 
the Property Owner outlining six remaining code violations; and 

 
WHEREAS, Unit A of the Property experienced a roof collapse on February 24, 2023, 

which, as this was the second roof collapse on the Property, prompted City staff to red tag the entire 



primary structure leading to the displacement of approximately 30 children from the Early Head 
Start Program and administrative staff offices of the Lake Family Resources Center; and 

 
WHEREAS, an Amended Notice to Abate Nuisance was issued to the Property Owner on 

March 13, 2023, outlining six specific requirements for review by City staff and City’s contracted 
structural engineer Kelsey Structural outlining the necessary steps to reoccupy Unit D and Unit E in 
addition to resolution of the six outstanding violations cited in Notices dated July 14, 2022, and 
September 29, 2022; and 

 
WHEREAS, a Technical Memorandum was issued by Kelsey Structural to the Property 

Owner on April 18, 2023 which outlined deteriorated conditions, the cause of the roof collapse in 
Unit A, and expectations for the Property Owner to achieve to ensure the conditions that occurred 
in Unit A’s roof collapse did not exist elsewhere, most notably in Unit D and Unit E; and 

 
WHEREAS, Conditions of Potential Re-occupancy of Unit D and Unit E was issued to 

Property Owner on April 20, 2023, identifying immediate repairs that were necessary prior to 
temporary re-occupancy of Units D and E, as well as repairs that must be completed within 60 days 
of the correspondence date for permanent occupancy; and 

 
WHEREAS, on May 16, 2023, Property Owner requested temporary fencing for Unit B 

while engineered plans were reportedly being drafted so that Lake Family Resource Center and Early 
Head Start could move towards reoccupation of Units D and E; and 

 
WHEREAS, Lake Family Resource Center and Early Head Start were granted temporary 

re-occupancy of Units D and E on May 19, 2023, with conditions that Property Owner would 
comply with 60-day requirements outlined in April 25, 2023 Conditions of Potential Re-occupancy 
correspondence; and  
 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Lakeport Municipal Code Chapter 8.22 a Second Notice to 
Abate Nuisance was issued to Property Owner on October 16, 2023, which included a formal 
Abatement Hearing date scheduled for November 7, 2023; and  

 
WHEREAS, a Second Notice to Abate Nuisance was re-issued on October 31, 2023 

following a request from the Property Owner to reschedule due to personal conflict, continuing the 
Abatement Hearing to December 5, 2023. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of 
Lakeport as follows: 
 

1. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by this reference.  
 

2. The record of proceedings (“Record”) upon which all findings and determinations related to 
the Nuisance Abatement Hearing are based includes, but is not limited to: 
A. The staff reports, City files, records and other documents, and all other information 

(including written evidence and testimony) prepared for and/or submitted to the 
City Council relating to the Property;  

B. All information (including written evidence and testimony) presented to the City or 
incorporated into reports presented to the City Council;  



C. All information (including written evidence and testimony) presented to the City by 
other public agencies relating to the Property; 

D. All documentary and oral evidence received at public workshops, meetings, and 
hearings or submitted to the City regarding the Property and conditions thereon;  

E. All applications, letters, testimony and hearing presentations given by the Property 
Owner or its consultants/agents to the City in connection with the Property;  

F. All information (including written evidence and testimony) presented to the City by 
members of the public relating to the Property and its condition; 

G. The General Plan, its related environmental document, the Lakeport Municipal 
Code, the California Building Code, International Property Maintenance Code, and 
all other City-adopted codes incorporated by reference, land use plans and 
ordinances, including, without limitation, specific plans, guidelines and ordinances; 

H. All other matters of common knowledge to the City Council including, but not 
limited to, City, state, and federal laws, policies, rules, regulations, reports, records 
and projections related to development within the City of Lakeport and its 
surrounding areas;.  

I. The evidence, facts, findings and other determinations set forth in this resolution; 
and 

 
3. Notice of the nuisance abatement hearing was properly given and the hearing was properly 

held. 
 

4. Based on a review of the Record and the testimony of the parties and public at the public 
hearing, the City Council finds the property located at 872-896a Lakeport Boulevard 
(Assessor’s Parcel Number 025-472-05) constitutes a public nuisance under Lakeport 
Municipal Code Section 8.22.020, is an Unsafe Structure as provided in California Building 
Code Section 116.1, and is an Unsafe Structure as provided in the International Property 
Maintenance Code Section 111.1.1, which are incorporated by reference in the Lakeport 
Municipal Code under Section 15.04.010.  
 

5. After a thorough review of the Record, the City Council declares the property at 872-896a 
Lakeport Blvd of the Vista Point Shopping Center, further identified as APN 025-472-05, is 
a public nuisance, and orders the property owner, Donica LLC, to abate all identified 
nuisance conditions within 30 days of service of this Resolution. 
 

6. The City Council further orders that, in the event such abatement is not commenced, 
pursued, or completed within the terms set by the Council, city staff shall be empowered and 
authorized to abate said nuisance and upon expiration of the time limits set under Section 3 
above, and city staff shall acquire jurisdiction to abate said nuisance. The costs of such 
abatement may become a charge against the Property and may be made a special assessment 
against the Property pursuant to Lakeport Municipal Code Chapter 8.22. Said special 
assessment may be collected at the same time and in the same manner as is provided for the 
collection of ordinary county taxes, and shall be subject to the same penalties, interest, and 
to the same procedures of foreclosure and sale in the case of delinquency as is provided for 
ordinary county taxes.  
 

7. This Resolution is categorically exempt from CEQA in accordance with CEQA Section 
15321 as an action by a regulatory agency to enforce or revoke a lease, permit, license, 



certificate, or other entitlement for use, and actions to enforce any law, rule, standard, or 
objective administered or adopted by the agency. 

 
8. The City Clerk is hereby directed to serve this Resolution on the Property Owner as 

provided in Lakeport Municipal Code Section 8.22.03 and Code of Civil Procedure section 
1094.6, subdivision (b) and is further directed to forward a certified copy of this Resolution 
to the County Recorder of the County of Lake for recordation. The decision of the City 
Council is final and hereby gives notice that the time within which judicial review of this 
action must be sought is governed by Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.6. 
 

THIS RESOLUTION was passed by the City Council of the City of Lakeport at a regular meeting 
thereof on the 5th day of December 2023, by the following vote: 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSTAINING:  
ABSENT:  
 
       _________________________________ 
       STACEY MATTINA, Mayor 
  
       
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
_______________________________   
KELLY BUENDIA, City Clerk    
 



Meeting Date 12/5/2023          Page 1 Agenda Item # VII.A.1. 

CITY OF LAKEPORT 

City Council ☒ 
City of Lakeport Municipal Sewer District ☐ 

Lakeport Industrial Development Authority  ☐ 
Municipal Financing Agency of Lakeport  ☐ 

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Carnegie Library Improvement Project MEETING DATE:   12/05/2023 

SUBMITTED BY:  Ron Ladd, Public Works Director 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:      ☐Information only     ☐ Discussion     ☒Action Item 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL/BOARD: 

The City Council is being asked to award a public works contract to the low bidder on the Carnegie Library 
Improvement Project, Skiles & Associates, and authorize the City Manager to enter into a construction 
agreement with Skiles & Associates, in the amount of $128,538.59. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  

The Carnegie Library Improvements Project involves various interior renovations of the Carnegie Library, 
including repairing and painting walls, and insulating and installing new ceiling. The carpet will be removed, and 
any damaged floorboards will be replaced. The floor will then be stained with a new finish. New recessed lights 
will be installed, and six battery powered emergency lights will be added. New window coverings will be 
installed as will a new chandelier and ceiling fan. 

Following a 6-week bid period, two bids were received. Skiles & Associates was the low bidder at $128,538.59.  
The engineer’s estimate for the project was $114,000.  Work is anticipated to begin February 2024 and be 
completed by June 2024. 

The proposed project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (a), Class 1 for Existing Facilities. 

OPTIONS: 

1. Award a public works contract to Skiles & Associates for the Carnegie Library Improvement Project and
authorize the City Manager to sign the contract in the amount of $128,538.59.

2. Provide other direction.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

☐ None  ☒ $128,538.59 Budgeted Item?  ☒Yes   ☐ No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?  ☐Yes   ☒ No If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  $ 

Affected fund(s): ☒ General Fund   ☐ Water OM Fund   ☐ Sewer OM Fund   ☐ Other: 

Comments:  



Meeting Date 12/5/2023          Page 1 Agenda Item # VII.A.1. 

COUNCIL PRIORITIES: 

☐ Priority #1:  Public Safety & Crisis Response

☐ Priority #2:  Disaster Resiliency

☐ Priority #3:  Good Governance & Fiscal Stability

☒ Priority #4:  Capital Infrastructure Improvement

☒ Priority #5:  Safe, Sustainable & Attractive Neighborhoods

☒ Priority #6:  Economic Development

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

Move to award a public works contract to Skiles & Associates for the Carnegie Library Improvements and 
authorize the City Manager to issue the contract for the bid amount. 

☒ Attachments: 1. Bid Tabulation
2. Articles of Agreement



AGENCY City of Lakeport
PROJECT NAME Carnegie Library Improvements

LOCATION 200 Park Street
ARCHITECT  

BID DATE 231115
PROJECT NO. 22-07

BID ITEM NO. ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT UNIT 
AMOUNT

BID UNIT 
AMOUNT BID UNIT 

AMOUNT BID

1 Mobilization 1 LS 1,500.00$        2,547.58            4,500.00           
2 Protection of Existing Facilities 1 LS 6,120.00$        3,185.70            5,430.00           
3 Demolition 1 LS 6,120.00$        8,256.58            13,300.00        
4 General Electrical Work 1 LS 2,600.00$        5,000.00            5,800.00           
5 Install Recessed Ceiling Lights 46 EA 150 6,900.00$        46 8,000.00            46 22,800.00        
6 Modify Existing Downstairs Light Fixture 1 LS 560.00$            800.00                1,300.00           
7 Install Ceiling Fan 1 LS 2,100.00$        800.00                1,300.00           
8 Install Chandelier Light Fixture 1 LS 2,100.00$        800.00                800.00              
9 Modify HVAC Equipment 1 LS 2,000.00$        1,000.00            4,260.00           

10 Install Ceiling Insulation 1 LS 10,000.00$      7,070.00            3,440.00           
11 Install and Finish Gypsum Ceiling 1 LS 8,000.00$        23,100.00          14,400.00        
12 Paint New Ceiling and Existing Walls 1 LS 8,000.00$        14,540.00          10,800.00        
13 Install Window Coverings 1 LS 15,000.00$      9,761.57            3,000.00           
14 Prepare Existing Wood Floor for New Finish 1 LS 2,500.00$        6,223.61            18,120.00        
15 Replace Existing Floorboards – Location 3 EA 750 2,250.00$        3 1,000.00            3 4,320.00           
16 Replace Existing Floorboards – Area 10 SF 250 2,500.00$        10 1,000.00            10 3,500.00           
17 Apply Floor Stain and Finish 1 LS 12,000.00$      3,500.00            11,200.00        
18 Install Battery Emergency Lights 6 EA 200 2,445.00$        6 3,500.00            6 4,800.00           
19 Bonds and Insurance 1 LS 20,000.00$      6,091.88            6,530.00           
20 Contractor’s Fees 1 LS 1,200.00$        22,361.67          4,000.00           

Total Bid Amount 113,895.00$    128,538.59$       143,600.00$    *
Bid submitted..  144,600.00$     

* addition error

BID TABULATION

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE Skiles & Associates Next Generation Builders



1 Bid No. 22-07  

ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT 
 

CARNEGIE LIBRARY IMPROVEMENTS 
BID NO. 22-07 

IN THE CITY OF LAKEPORT, CALIFORNIA 
 

THIS CARNEGIE LIBRARY IMPROVEMENTS, BID NO. 22-07, AGREEMENT (“AGREEMENT”) 
is made and entered into for the above-stated project this 5th day of December, 2023, BY AND 
BETWEEN the City of Lakeport, a municipal corporation, hereafter designated as “AGENCY”, and 
Skiles & Associates, Inc., a California Corporation, hereafter designated as “CONTRACTOR.” 

 
WITNESSETH that AGENCY and CONTRACTOR have mutually agreed as follows: 

 
ARTICLE I: Contract Documents 

 

The contract documents for the CARNEGIE LIBRARY IMPROVEMENTS, BID NO. 22-07, shall consist 
of the Notice Inviting Sealed Bids, Instructions To Bidders, Bid Proposal, Bid Schedule, Standard 
Specifications, Special Provisions, and all referenced specifications, details, standard drawings, and 
appendices; together with two signed copies of the AGREEMENT, two signed copies of required bonds; 
one copy of the insurance certificates, permits, notices, and affidavits; and also including any and all 
addenda or supplemental agreements clarifying, amending, or extending the work contemplated as may be 
required to ensure its completion in an acceptable manner (collectively referred to herein as the “Contract 
Documents”). All of the provisions of the Contract Documents are made a part hereof as though fully set 
forth herein. 

 
ARTICLE II: Scope of Work 

 

For and in consideration of the payments and agreements to be made and performed by AGENCY, 
CONTRACTOR agrees to furnish all materials and equipment and perform all work required for the above-
stated project, and to fulfill all other obligations as set forth in the aforesaid contract documents. 

 
AGENCY hereby employs CONTRACTOR to provide the materials, do the work, and fulfill the 
obligations according to the terms and conditions herein contained and referred to, for the prices provided 
herein, and hereby contracts to pay the same at the time, in the manner, and upon the conditions set forth 
in this AGREEMENT. 

 
In entering into a public works contract or a subcontract to supply goods, services, or materials pursuant to 
this AGREEMENT, CONTRACTOR offers and agrees to assign to the AGENCY all rights, title, and 
interest in and to all causes of action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Sec. 15) or 
under the Cartwright Act (Chapter 2 (Section 16700, et seq.) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and 
Professions Code), arising from purchases of goods, services, or materials pursuant to the public works 
contract or the subcontract. This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time the awarding 
body tenders final payment to CONTRACTOR, without further acknowledgment by the parties. 



2 Bid No. 22-07  

ARTICLE III: Compensation 
 

A. CONTRACTOR agrees to receive and accept the prices set forth in the Bid Proposal and Bid 
Schedule as full compensation for furnishing all materials, performing all work, and fulfilling all 
obligations hereunder. In no event shall the total compensation and costs payable to CONTRACTOR 
under this Agreement exceed the sum of one hundred twenty-eight thousand, five hundred thirty-eight 
Dollars and 59/100 ($128,538.59) unless specifically approved in advance and in writing by AGENCY 

 
Such compensation shall cover all expenses, losses, damages, and consequences arising out of the nature 
of the work during its progress or prior to its acceptance including those for well and faithfully completing 
the work and the whole thereof in the manner and time specified in the aforesaid Contract Documents; and 
also including those arising from actions of the elements, unforeseen difficulties or obstructions 
encountered in the prosecution of the work, suspension or discontinuance of the work, and all other 
unknowns or risks of any description connected with the work. 

 
B. This AGREEMENT is subject to the provisions of Article 1.7 (commencing at Section 

20104.50) of Division 2, Part 3 of the Public Contract Code regarding prompt payment of contractors by 
local governments. Article 1.7 mandates certain procedures for the payment of undisputed and properly 
submitted payment requests within 30 days after receipt, for the review of payment requests, for notice to 
Contractor of improper payment requests, and provides for the payment of interest on progress payment 
requests which are not timely made in accordance with that Article. This AGREEMENT hereby 
incorporates the provisions of Article 1.7 as though fully set forth herein. 

 
C. At the request and expense of CONTRACTOR, securities equivalent to the amount withheld 

shall be deposited with AGENCY, or with a state or federally chartered bank in this state as the escrow 
agent, who shall then pay those moneys to CONTRACTOR upon Agency’s confirmation of 
CONTRACTOR’S satisfactory completion of this AGREEMENT. At any time during the term of this 
AGREEMENT CONTRACTOR may, at its own expense, substitute securities for funds otherwise withheld 
as retention (or the retained percentage) in accordance with Public Contract Code § 22300. 

 
ARTICLE IV: Labor Code 

 

AGENCY and CONTRACTOR acknowledge that this AGREEMENT is subject to the provisions of 
Division 2, Part 7, Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1720) of the California Labor Code relating to 
public works and public agencies and agree to be bound by all the provisions thereof as though set forth 
fully herein. Full compensation for conforming to the requirements of the Labor Code and with other 
Federal, State and local laws related to labor, and rules, regulations and ordinances which apply to any work 
performed pursuant to this AGREEMENT is included in the price for all contract items of work involved. 

 
 

This AGREEMENT is further subject to prevailing wage law, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 

A. The CONTRACTOR shall pay the prevailing wage rates for all work performed under the 
AGREEMENT. When any craft or classification is omitted from the general prevailing wage 
determinations, the CONTRACTOR shall pay the wage rate of the craft or classification most closely 
related to the omitted classification. The CONTRACTOR shall forfeit as a penalty to AGENCY $200.00 
or any greater penalty provided in the Labor Code for each Calendar Day, or portion thereof, for each 
worker paid less than the prevailing wage rates for any work done under the AGREEMENT in violation 



3 Bid No. 22-07  

of the provisions of the Labor Code whether such worker is employed in the execution of the work by 
CONTRACTOR or by any Subcontractor under CONTRACTOR. In addition, CONTRACTOR shall pay 
each worker the difference between such prevailing wage rates and the amount paid to each worker for each 
Calendar Day, or portion thereof, for which each worker was paid less than the prevailing wage rate. 

 
B. CONTRACTOR shall comply with the provisions of Labor Code Section 1777.5 concerning 

the employment of apprentices on public works projects, and further agrees that CONTRACTOR is 
responsible for compliance with Section 1777.5 by all of its subcontractors. 

 
C. Pursuant to Labor Code § 1725.5, CONTRACTOR and any subcontractor must be registered 

with the California Department of Industrial Relations for any bid proposal submitted on or after March 1, 
2015, and for any contract for public work entered into on or after April 1, 2015. Further, this project is 
subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial Relations. 

 
D. Pursuant to Labor Code § 1776, CONTRACTOR and any subcontractor shall keep accurate 

payroll records, showing the name, address, social security number, work classification, straight time and 
overtime hours worked each day and week, and the actual per diem wages paid to each journeyman, 
apprentice, worker, or other employee employed by him or her in connection with this AGREEMENT. 
Each payroll record shall contain or be verified by a written declaration that it is made under penalty of 
perjury, stating both of the following: (1) The information contained in the payroll record is true and correct; 
and (2) The employer has complied with the requirements of Labor Code §§ 1811, and 1815 for any work 
performed by his or her employees on the public works project. The payroll records enumerated under 
subdivision (a) shall be certified and shall be available for inspection at all reasonable hours as required by 
Labor Code § 1776. 

 
E. This AGREEMENT is further subject to 8-hour work day and wage and hour penalty law, 

including, but not limited to, Labor Code Sections 1810 and 1813, as well as California nondiscrimination 
laws, as follows: 

 
CONTRACTOR shall strictly adhere to the provisions of the Labor Code regarding the 8-hour day and the 
40-hour week, overtime, Saturday, Sunday and holiday work and nondiscrimination on the basis of race, 
religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, 
marital status, sex or sexual orientation, except as provided in Section 12940 of the Government Code. 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Labor Code, eight hours’ labor shall constitute a legal day’s work. Work 
performed by CONTRACTOR’s employees in excess of eight hours per day, and 40 hours during any one 
week, must include compensation for all hours worked in excess of eight hours per day, or 40 hours during 
any one week, at not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay. CONTRACTOR shall forfeit 
as a penalty to AGENCY $25.00 or any greater penalty set forth in the Labor Code for each worker 
employed in the execution of the work by CONTRACTOR or by any Subcontractor of CONTRACTOR, 
for each Calendar Day during which such worker is required or permitted to the work more than eight hours 
in one Calendar Day or more than 40 hours in any one calendar week in violation of the Labor Code. 

 
F. This AGREEMENT is subject to Public Contract Code Section 6109: CONTRACTOR shall be 

prohibited from performing work on this project with a subcontractor who is ineligible to perform work on 
the project pursuant to Sections 1777.1 or 1777.7 of the Labor Code. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 Bid No. 22-07  

ARTICLE V: Work Site Conditions 
 

A. In compliance with and pursuant to Government Code Section 4215, AGENCY shall assume 
the responsibility, as between the parties to this AGREEMENT, for the timely removal, relocation, or 
protection of existing main- or trunk-line utility facilities located on the site of any construction project that 
is a subject of this AGREEMENT, if such utilities are not identified by AGENCY in the plans and 
specifications made a part of the invitation for bids. The Contract Documents shall include provisions to 
compensate CONTRACTOR for the costs of locating, repairing damage not due to the failure of 
CONTRACTOR to exercise reasonable care, and removing or relocating such utility facilities not indicated 
in the plans and specifications with reasonable accuracy, and for equipment on the project necessarily idled 
during such work. CONTRACTOR shall not be assessed liquidated damages for delay in completion of 
the project, when such delay was caused by the failure of AGENCY or the owner of a utility to provide for 
removal or relocation of such utility facilities. 

 
B. To the extent that the work requires trenches in excess of five feet (5’) and is estimated to cost 

more than $25,000, prior to any excavation, CONTRACTOR must provide the AGENCY, or a registered 
civil or structural engineer employed by the AGENCY to whom authority has been delegated to accept 
such plans, a detailed plan showing the design of shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions to be made 
for worker protection from the hazard of caving ground during the excavation of such trench or trenches. 
If such plan varies from the shoring system standards, the plan shall be prepared by a registered civil or 
structural engineer. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to allow the use of a shoring, sloping, or 
protective system less effective than that required by the Construction Safety Orders. 

 
C. This AGREEMENT is further subject to Public Contract Code Section 7104 with regard to any 

trenches deeper than four feet (4’) involved in the proposed work as follows: 
 

CONTRACTOR shall promptly, and before the following conditions are disturbed, notify AGENCY, in 
writing, of any: 

 
(1) Material that CONTRACTOR believes may be hazardous waste, as defined in Section 25117 of the 
Health and Safety Code, which is required to be removed to a Class I, Class II, or Class III disposal site in 
accordance with existing law. 

 
(2) Subsurface or latent physical conditions at the site differing from those indicated by all available 
information provided prior to the deadline for submission of bids. 

 
(3) Unknown physical conditions at the site of any unusual nature, different materially from those 
ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the 
contract. 

 
AGENCY shall promptly investigate the conditions, and if it finds that the conditions do materially so 
differ, or involve hazardous waste, and cause a decrease or increase in CONTRACTOR’s cost of, or the 
time required for, performance of any part of the work, AGENCY shall issue a change order under the 
procedures described in this AGREEMENT. 

 
In the event that a dispute arises between AGENCY and CONTRACTOR whether the conditions materially 
differ, or involve hazardous waste, or cause a decrease or increase in CONTRACTOR’s cost of, or time 
required for, performance of any part of the work, CONTRACTOR shall not be excused from any scheduled 
completion date provided in the AGREEMENT, but shall proceed with all work to be performed under the 
AGREEMENT. CONTRACTOR shall retain any and all rights provided either by contract or by law which 
pertain to the resolution of disputes and protests between the contracting parties. 



5 Bid No. 22-07  

ARTICLE VI: Insurance 
 

A. With respect to performance of work under this AGREEMENT, CONTRACTOR shall 
maintain, and shall require all of its subcontractors to maintain, insurance as required by Section E 
“Standard Specifications” of the Contract Documents. 

 
B. This AGREEMENT is further subject to Workers’ Compensation obligations, including, but not 

limited to, California Labor Code Sections 1860 and 1861 as follows: 
 

CONTRACTOR shall take out and maintain, during the life of this contract, Worker’s Compensation 
Insurance for all of CONTRACTOR’s employees employed at the site of improvement; and, if any work 
is sublet, CONTRACTOR shall require the subcontractor similarly to provide Worker’s Compensation 
Insurance for all of the latter’s employees, unless such employees are covered by the protection afforded 
by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR and any of CONTRACTOR’s subcontractors shall be required to 
provide AGENCY with a written statement acknowledging its obligation to secure payment of Worker’s 
Compensation Insurance as required by Labor Code § 1861; to wit: ‘I am aware of the provisions of Section 
3700 of the Labor Code which require every employer to be insured against liability for workers’ 
compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that code, and I will 
comply with such provisions before commencing the performance of the work of this contract.’ If any class 
of employees engaged in work under this AGREEMENT at the site of the Project is not protected under 
any Worker’s Compensation law, CONTRACTOR shall provide and shall cause each subcontractor to 
provide adequate insurance for the protection of employees not otherwise protected. CONTRACTOR shall 
indemnify and hold harmless AGENCY for any damage resulting from failure of either CONTRACTOR 
or any subcontractor to take out or maintain such insurance. 

 
ARTICLE VII: Indemnification 

 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, CONTRACTOR shall, at its sole cost and expense, fully defend, 
indemnify and hold harmless AGENCY, its authorized representatives and their respective subsidiaries, 
affiliates, members, directors, officers, employees and agents (collectively, the “Indemnitees”) from and 
against any and all claims, actions, demands, costs, judgments, liens, penalties, liabilities, damages, 
losses, and expenses, including but not limited to any fees of accountants, attorneys or other professionals 
(collectively “Liabilities”), arising out of, in connection with, resulting from or related to, any alleged act, 
omission, fault or negligence of CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR’s Representative, or any of its 
officers, agents, employees, Subcontractors or Suppliers, or any person or organization directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them (Collectively, the “Indemnitors”), in connection with or relating to or 
claimed to be in connection with or relating to the work performed under this AGREEMENT. 
CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to any refund of attorneys’ fees, defense costs and expenses in the 
event that it is s adjudicated to have been non-negligent. 

 
CONTRACTOR shall not be required to defend or indemnify AGENCY for liabilities caused by the sole 
active negligence or willful misconduct of the AGENCY. 

 
If CONTRACTOR is a joint venture or partnership, each venturer or partner shall be jointly and severally 
liable for any and all of the duties and obligations of CONTRACTOR that are assumed under or arise out 
of this AGREEMENT. Each of such venturers or partners waives notice of the breach or non-performance 
of any undertaking or obligation of CONTRACTOR contained in, resulting from or assumed under this 
AGREEMENT, and the failure to give any such notice shall not affect or impair such venturer’s or 
partner’s joint and several liability hereunder. 



6 Bid No. 22-07  

ARTICLE VIII: Binding Effect 
 

AGENCY and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives 
to the other party hereto and to its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect of all 
covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. This AGREEMENT is not 
assignable nor the performance of either party’s duties delegable without the prior written consent of the 
other party. Any attempted or purported assignment or delegation of any of the rights of obligations of 
either party without the prior written consent of the other shall be void and of no force and effect. 

 
ARTICLE IX: Dispute Resolution 

 

A. Any court action arising out of this AGREEMENT shall be filed in the Lake County Superior 
Court. Any alternative dispute resolution proceeding arising out of this AGREEMENT shall be heard in 
the County of Lake. 

 
B. AGENCY shall have full authority to compromise or otherwise settle any claim relating to this 

AGREEMENT or any part hereof at any time. AGENCY shall provide timely notification to 
CONTRACTOR of the receipt of any third-party claim relating to this AGREEMENT. AGENCY shall be 
entitled to recover its reasonable costs incurred in providing the notification required by this section. 

 
C. To the extent applicable, this AGREEMENT is subject to the provisions of Public Contract 

Code Section 9204, which mandates certain procedures regarding the resolution of public works claims. 
This AGREEMENT is further subject to the provisions of Article 1.5 (commencing at Section 20104) of 
Division 2, Part 3 of the Public Contract Code regarding the resolution of public works claims of less than 
$375,000. Article 1.5 mandates certain procedures for the filing of claims and supporting documentation 
by Contractor, for the response to such claims by the Agency, for a mandatory meet and confer conference 
upon the request of Contractor, for mandatory nonbinding mediation in the event litigation is commenced, 
and for mandatory judicial arbitration upon the parties’ failure to resolve the dispute through mediation. 
This AGREEMENT hereby incorporates the provisions of Article 1.5 as though fully set forth herein. 

 
ARTICLE X: Independent Contractor 

 

CONTRACTOR is and shall at all times remain as to AGENCY, a wholly independent contractor. Neither 
AGENCY nor any of its agents shall have control of the conduct of CONTRACTOR or any of 
CONTRACTOR’s employees, except as herein set forth. CONTRACTOR shall not at any time or in any 
manner represent that it or any of its agents or employees are in any manner agents or employees of 
AGENCY. 

 
ARTICLE XI: Taxes 

 

CONTRACTOR is responsible for paying all retail, sales and use, transportation, export, import, special or 
other taxes and duties applicable to, and assessable against any work, materials, equipment, services, 
processes and operations incidental to or involved in this AGREEMENT. The CONTRACTOR is 
responsible for ascertaining and arranging to pay such taxes and duties. The prices established in this 
AGREEMENT shall include compensation for any taxes the CONTRACTOR is required to pay by laws 
and regulations in effect as of the execution of this AGREEMENT. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 Bid No. 22-07  

ARTICLE XII: Notices 
 

All notices and communications shall be sent in writing to the parties at the following addresses: 
 

AGENCY: Ron Ladd CONTRACTOR: Joshua Skiles 
 

CITY OF LAKEPORT Skiles & Associates, Inc. 
 

225 Park Street PO Box 237 
 

Lakeport, CA 95453 Middletown, CA 95461 
 
 

ARTICLE XIII: Entire Agreement 
 

This AGREEMENT supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or written, between the parties 
and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties pertaining to the work of 
improvements described herein. Each party to this AGREEMENT acknowledges that no representations, 
inducements, promises or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting 
on behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and that any other agreement, statement or promise 
not contained in this AGREEMENT shall not be valid or binding. Any modification of this AGREEMENT 
will be effective only if signed by the party to be charged. 

 
The benefits and obligations of this AGREEMENT shall inure to and be binding upon the representatives, 
agents, partners, heirs, successors and assigns of the parties hereto. This AGREEMENT shall be construed 
pursuant to the laws of the State of California. 

 
ARTICLE XIV: Authority to Contract 

 

The signatories hereto represent that they are authorized to sign on behalf of the respective parties they 
represent and are competent to do so, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives any and all 
rights to challenge signatures on these bases. 

 
ARTICLE XV: General Provisions 

 

A. All reports, documents or other written material (“written products” herein) developed by 
CONTRACTOR in the performance of this Agreement shall be and remain the property of AGENCY 
without restriction or limitation upon its use or dissemination by AGENCY. CONTRACTOR may take and 
retain copies of such written products as desired, but no such written products shall be the subject of a 
copyright application by CONTRACTOR. 

 
B. In the performance of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate against any 

employee, subcontractor, or applicant for employment because of race, color, creed, religion, sex, marital 
status, sexual orientation, national origin, ancestry, age, physical or mental disability, medical condition or 
any other unlawful basis. 

 
C. The captions appearing at the commencement of the sections hereof, and in any paragraph 

thereof, are descriptive only and for convenience in reference to this Agreement. Should there be any 
conflict between such heading, and the section or paragraph at the head of which it appears, the section or 
paragraph hereof, as the case may be, and not such heading, shall control and govern in the construction of 
this Agreement. Masculine or feminine pronouns shall be substituted for the neuter form and vice 



8 Bid No. 22-07  

versa, and the plural shall be substituted for the singular form and vice versa, in any place or places herein 
in which the context requires such substitution(s). 

 
D. The waiver by AGENCY or CONTRACTOR of any breach of any term, covenant or condition 

herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, covenant or condition or of any 
subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition herein contained. No term, covenant 
or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been waived by AGENCY or CONTRACTOR 
unless in writing. 

 
E. Each right, power and remedy provided for herein or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity, 

by statute, or otherwise shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other right, power, or remedy 
provided for herein or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity, by statute, or otherwise. The exercise, the 
commencement of the exercise, or the forbearance of the exercise by any party of any one or more of such 
rights, powers or remedies shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by such party of any of all 
of such other rights, powers or remedies. 

 
F. CONTRACTOR shall maintain any and all ledgers, books of account, invoices, vouchers, 

canceled checks, and other records or documents evidencing or relating to charges for services or 
expenditures and disbursements charged to CITY under this Agreement for a minimum of three (3) years, 
or for any longer period required by law, from the date of final payment to CONTRACTOR under this 
Agreement. All such documents shall be made available for inspection, audit, and/or copying at any time 
during regular business hours, upon oral or written request of CITY. In addition, pursuant to Government 
Code Section 8546.7, all such documents and this Agreement shall be subject to the examination and audit 
of the State Auditor, at the request of CITY or as part of any audit of CITY, for a period of three (3) years 
after final payment under the Agreement. 

 
G. This Agreement may be signed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be 

deemed an original, but all of which together shall be deemed one and the same instrument. The 
parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement may be executed by electronic signature, which 
shall be considered as an original signature for all purposes and shall have the same force and 
effect as an original signature. Without limitation, “electronic signature” shall include faxed or 
emailed versions of an original signature, electronically scanned and transmitted versions (e.g., 
via pdf) of an original signature, or a digital signature. 

 
H. Not Used 



9 Bid No. 22-07  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto for themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns do hereby agree to the full performance of the covenants herein contained and have 
caused this AGREEMENT to be executed in duplicate by setting hereunto their names, titles, hands, and 
seals this 5th Day of December, 2023. 

 

CONTRACTOR: Skiles & Associates, Inc. 
 
 

Contractor’s Sign Name, Title  
CSLB# 1010253 
  
 
 

Subscribed and sworn to this  day of  , 2023. 
 
 
 

NOTARY PUBLIC   (SEAL) 
 
 

AGENCY:    
City Manager 
City of Lakeport 

   
Date 

ATTESTED:    
City Clerk of the 
City of Lakeport 

   
Date 

APPROVED AS 
TO FORM: 

 
   

 
   

 City Attorney of the 
City of Lakeport 

Date 

 

( E X E C U T E I N D U P L I C A T E ) 


	12/05/2023 Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	11/21/2023 Minutes - Special Meeting
	11/21/2023 Minutes - Regular Meeting
	Maddy List
	Nuisance Abatement Hearing - Vista Point Shopping Center

	Council Business
	Carnegie Library Project




